
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Audit 
 
 

Committee 
Minutes 

March 29, 2017 



 

 
TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE 

DIVISION OF REGULATORY BOARDS 
MOTOR VEHICLE COMMISSION 

500 JAMES ROBERTSON PARKWAY, 2ND FLOOR 
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243-1153 

FAX (615) 741-0651 
(615) 741-2711 

 
TENNESSEE 

MOTOR VEHICLE COMMISSION 
MINUTES 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: March 29, 2017 

 
PLACE: Davy Crockett Tower – Conference Room 1-B 

500 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, Tennessee 

 
PRESENT: Audit Committee Members: 

Joe Clayton, Chair  
Eddie Roberts 
Don Parr 
Debbie Melton 

 
ABSENT: 

 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Audit Committee Chair, Joe Clayton, called the meeting to order. 
 
Executive Director, Paula J. Shaw, read the orientation and meeting notice. 
 
ORIENTATION 

 
This effort has been undertaken to provide this body with the information needed to enable 
the Commission to prepare for sound fiscal oversight and operational planning in 
compliance in accordance with the requirements of “The Tennessee Audit Committee Act 
of 2005.” Assistant Commissioner Carter Lawrence and Regulatory Boards Fiscal Director 
Bill Huddleston are available to present the financial outlook and to respond to questions. 
Members of the Commission staff are also available, and include Barry Whitson, 
Administrative Manager of Licensing; Jason Gilliam, Reg boards Administrative Assistant 
3 over compliance and Support Services and me, Paula Shaw, Executive Director.  This 
Audit Committee is being Chaired by commissioner Joe Clayton. The committee members 
are Commissioner Debbie Melton, Commissioner Don Parr and Chairman Eddie Roberts 
serving At-Large. I will be providing an orientation of the financial fiscal cycle for the 
Commission to better prepare you for the upcoming discussion.  



The Motor Vehicle Commission is one of approximately 27 Regulatory Boards within the 
Department of Commerce and Insurance. The state fiscal year begins July 1st and ends June 
30th.  The Motor Vehicle Commission is a Regulatory Board. State law requires that all 
regulatory boards be self-supporting, meaning no tax dollars are used for the operation of 
the Commission. The Commission is supported by licensing fees.  Since Motor Vehicle 
Licenses are renewed on a two year cycle, “self-sufficiency” is based on a two year fiscal 
cycle. Any time a regulatory board goes into the “red” for two consecutive years it triggers 
and automatic “sunset audit.” Regulatory boards are required by statute to do two 
things;       (1) Meet their statutory purpose and (2) to be self-sustaining to avoid being 
“sunset,” or being abolished.  June 30th, 2017 marks the second year of the Commission’s 
two year licensing cycle. July 1, 2017 will mark the beginning of the next two year cycle. 
Most MVC license types renew across a staggered two year cycle. Those license types 
include dealers, dismantlers, and salespersons.  Manufactures, Auctions and 
Representatives, however, renew on a fixed schedule in May and June of the odd years of 
the cycle. Thus, the odd year of each two-year cycle generates higher revenues and creates a 
fluctuating revenue cycle. (A table of these license types has been provided for your 
reference.)  Except for salesperson applications, licensing fees were doubled in 
2011.  Typical revenues for the even year average $1.7 annually. The odd year of the cycle 
averages just over $ 2.1m. FY16 fiscal year close projections indicate that $584,000 will be 
generated during May and June renewals for the Manufacturer, Auctions and 
Representative renewals. The FY16 year-end close for the Motor Vehicle Commission’s on 
June 30th is projected to be approximately $2.1m total revenues and just over in $2m 
expenditures. 
The total operational budget for the Motor Vehicle is divided into two distinct groups: 

(1) The “Work Plan,” which funds the day-to-day operation of the Commission office 
and salaries for (8) staff members, including licensing specialist, a compliance 
coordinator and the Executive Director.  One (1) permanent and one (1) temporary 
position are currently vacant. The Executive Director is responsible for managing 
this portion of the budget. The projected year-end close for this portion of the 
budget is $642,000, well under the $749,200 budgeted.  

(2) “Cost Backs,” which constitute, the remaining portion of the budget are divided into 
(5) five subcategories; Departmental Administrative, Legal, Investigations, Field 
Enforcement, and the Customer Service Center. One remaining category, 
Centralized Complaints, is planned for future implementation. The cost associated 
with this item unknown and has not yet been incurred. This portion of the budget is 
managed by Regulatory Boards management and supports Regulatory Boards 
operating expenses. 

(3) The State Regulatory Fee is a $5 per year per license issued for departmental 
indirect cost. 

Benchmarks and Performance Metrics 
The Commission is measured on three primary performance indicators or benchmarks: (1) 
Licensing, (2) Complaints, (3) Customer Service. Online Services became available for 
some license types in December 2016. All transaction types are anticipated to be available 
online by December 31, 2017.  We are seeing positive adoption rates and customer 
satisfaction responses especially in the areas of online renewals and annual sales reporting. 
Licensing: The Commission currently receives the second highest volume of license 
applications at (746) per month and completes licensure within and average of (6) days of 
receipt. The monthly benchmark to meet is 22.8 days for dealers and 7.45 days for 



Salespersons. Dealer applications are completed on average within 12 days and 
salespersons within 1.4 days. The Commission is exceeding this metric. 
Complaints: The Commission currently has highest volume of cases at 700 of all 
Regulatory Boards. The benchmark is resolution or authorization for formal hearing of 85-
95% within 180 days of receipt. The Commission is currently exceeding this metric as 
97.3%. 
Customer Service: The Customer Service benchmark to meet for call hold times is (2) two 
minutes with a customer service rating of 90%. The Motor Vehicle Commission is 
exceeding the benchmarks at 49 seconds. At the last performance cycle the satisfaction 
rating was 100%. 
Mr. Chairman that concludes the orientation portion of this meeting and prepares us to 
being the working portion of the agenda.   
 
Chairman Clayton requested Roll Call 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Chairman Eddie Roberts 
Commissioner Joe Clayton 
Commissioner Don Parr 
Commissioner Debbie Melton 
 
ALL PRESENT 
 
At this time, Executive Director Shaw turned the meeting over to Assistant Commissioner 
of Regulatory Boards, Carter Lawrence. 
 
Assistant Commissioner Lawrence indicated to the Commission that he was willing to 
answer any questions regarding the finances of the Motor Vehicle Commission, and turned 
it back over to the Commission for any questions they had regarding the fiscal oversight of 
the Commission. 
 
Chairman Roberts indicated since the Commission was not yet at the end of the Fiscal Year 
2016, asked if it was possible to extrapolate what might be the result of the end of the Fiscal 
Year.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence answered in the affirmative, indicating that 
looking back historically, the even years are the lower revenue generators, whereas the odd 
years are the higher revenue generator.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence conveyed that 
since we are in the high cycle, it could be said, broadly, that this would be one of the higher 
years and then specifically looking forward to May and June, several professions which 
renew during those months would raise those revenues at the end of the Fiscal Year.   
 
Commissioner Lawrence then turned the meeting over to Bill Huddleston. 
 
Mr. Huddleston started off by indicating that every year, generally, about half the 
expenditures in Regulatory Boards are allocated through costbacks, which is about six and 
one half million dollars.  The other six and one half million are program-specific, which is 
directly charged to each program.  Mr. Huddleston indicated there were 24 programs in 
Regulatory Boards, so it is across a “wide spectrum” of programs. 
 
 
 



He indicated since he’d been in his position, each of those administrative costbacks, legal 
costbacks, investigation costbacks, field enforcement, and customer service center 
costbacks, he has tried to break those out into several cost centers, several cost pools, and 
they are allocated out based on usage.  Historically, the administrative costbacks for Motor 
Vehicles is 11% of the administrative costs of Reg Boards.  Field Enforcement is trending 
around 47% of those costs, Investigations is about 50% of those costs, and Customer 
Service is trending around 3% of those costs.  Projections indicate that legal is trending 
about the same as last year, and he indicated when he worked through that methodology, he 
came up with between 2 million and 2,050,000 for expenditures.  Based on revenue from 
the past 4 years, each of those odd years we receive about 2.2 million dollars and even years 
about 1.7 million dollars.  He expects this fiscal year to have a surplus of approximately 
$100,000. 
 
Commissioner Melton asked if the reserve was based on a formula and asked how it was 
calculated.  Mr. Huddleston stated that it was internally allocated and tracked, with the 
year’s surplus being added to the reserve. 
 
After much discussion, the Committee moved to costbacks incurred by the 
Commission for Field Enforcement and Investigations. 
 
Assistant Commissioner Lawrence stated it was difficult to talk about the same ratios going 
forward.  He indicated during the last fiscal year Motor V used about 35% of total field 
enforcement hours, and YTD, Motor V is using 47%.  According to Commissioner 
Lawrence, the usage of this service has increased.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence 
indicated they couldn’t look forward 3 years they could do beyond the historical context of 
where we’ve been in the past, and couldn’t give a valuable projection looking forward.   
 
Chairman Roberts asked why there was an increase in field enforcement hours, yet a drop 
in licensees.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence indicated there were more drive-by 
requests that were generated by consumers, and of those drive-by requests, 75% generated 
additional field enforcement actions. 
 
Commissoner Melton asked if the 12% increase was mostly due to the drive-by requests.  
Assistant Commissioner Lawrence indicated that there was another component that added 
to the increase, which were out of area assignments. 
 
Of 24 Regulatory Agencies, Assistant Commissioner Lawrence indicated they do not all 
have the same costback model.   
 
After some discussion, the Committee questioned the statutory requirements of 
investigations and inspections. 
 
Chairman Roberts asked if Motor V was required by statute to do investigations on dealers.  
Attorney Glandorf conveyed there was a statute that required the director of the regulatory 
boards division hire sufficient persons to do investigations.  He went on to say that 
investigations were requested through legal because investigations should be protected 
because of their outcomes.  He also went on to say that they also do investigations for other 
programs, however, some of those don’t require investigation.  He stated part of the reason 
that the Motor Vehicle Commission generated more investigations is because complaints 
received by the Motor Vehicle Commission often times lack the substance that legal needs 
in order to provide a recommendation to the Commission. 



Chairman Roberts stated he thought the complaints would be more technical, in nature.  
Commissioner Melton asked if all the boards used the same pool.  Attorney Glandorf 
indicated there are programs who have their own staff who can do their own investigations.  
Mr. Glandorf gave an example of the Accountancy Board having their own investigation 
staff because of the complicated nature of some of the investigations which have to be 
conducted for the Accountancy Board. Chairman Roberts asked if Accountancy had their 
own investigators, and Mr. Glandorf stated they did.   
 
 
Assistant Commissioner Lawrence indicated that field enforcement was not a subcontractor, 
but part of Regulatory Boards staff.  Chairman Roberts asked Assistant Commissioner 
Lawrence how one coordinates inspections, and how one keeps from inspecting too many 
times and not enough.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence indicated that the Director of 
Field Enforcement, James Olguin, keeps track of that.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence 
offered to provide that process to the Commission.   
 
Chairman Roberts stated his view was if MVC had their own Field Investigators and 
Enforcement, that the overall cost would be better and get a better product, and he hadn’t 
heard anyone on staff say this, but that if we had our own field investigators who 
communicated directly back to the office, instead of going through legal, because every 
time it went to legal it would be billed.  Mr. Huddleston asked the Commission to keep in 
mind that it would be direct payroll then, so as you are comparing the payroll would go up 
but the costbacks would go down.  Chairman Roberts indicated that our costbacks were 
bigger than our payroll, by a large margin. 
 
Commissioner Parr asked if these expenses were anything the audit committee was 
supposed to have control over.  He asked if that had already been decided by someone else 
where the Commission has no control over it.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence answered 
in the affirmative. 
 
 
After further discussion, the Committee questioned the role the legal department 
plays in regards to expenditures for the Commission. 
 
Chairman Roberts asked how many attorneys were assigned to the MVC.  Mr. Glandorf 
stated that there were no full time attorneys assigned to the MVC, currently.  Mr. Glandorf 
stated there were three attorneys working on behalf of the MVC.  Chairman Roberts asked 
if there were enough cases to justify a full time attorney for the MVC.  Mr. Glandorf stated 
there has always been enough work for an attorney to do for the MVC, however, the model 
that legal has set up one attorney has not been allocated to one program, they are allocated 
to multiple programs.  Mr. Glandorf went on to say historically, until about 6 months ago, a 
board attorney did the board work, rule making, legal reports and you would have a 
separate attorney who would do litigation for the program.  Legal changed the model to 
provide multiple services because oftentimes legal ran into the issue of attorneys leaving the 
Department and they had a gap to fill and don’t have an experienced attorney for that board 
or program.  Now, multiple attorneys are familiar with the laws and rules of each program 
and that is part of their internal system to make sure there is no drop in legal services.  In 
the past, that has happened, and Mr. Glandorf stated it was a burden to him to have to pick 
up the program with everything and move it forward along with his other duties.  He also 
stated legal has never been able to find attorneys who specialize in Motor Vehicle 
Commission law.   



 
Executive Director Shaw posed a question as to whether the Commission had the statutory 
authority to hire an attorney.  Mr. Glandorf stated he didn’t think that The Commission had 
that authority.  Director Shaw indicated she could be mistaken. Commissioner Parr asked 
why staff would want to do that, and whether it would save money.  Ms. Shaw answered 
that it might be a way to vet that to reduce costs, and was an angle to look at. Commissioner 
Parr stated that someone must have come up with this plan because they thought this was 
the best way to do it.  Commissioner Melton asked how long it had been since the MVC 
had their own investigators. Chairman Roberts stated it had been many years, and Director 
Shaw agreed it may have been a decade.  Assistant Commissioner Lawrence, to Mr. Parr’s 
point, stated his understanding of the logic was that the department was generating 
efficiencies through these models.  He went on to say that the takeaway last year being in 
the red was an anomaly from the change over to the new process of allocating the resources, 
and that the MVC would finish in the black this year, so there would not be that legislative 
sunset hearing.  He said he would take it back to the projections are the MVC would be in 
the black looking at all the historic analyses and would not require a sunset hearing. 
 
Commissioner Parr indicated it sounded like the MVC wasn’t paying their fair share in 
prior years, because all investigations or the biggest part were done for the MVC.  Bill 
Huddleston stated that the year he had pointed out where $900,000 was banked for the 
MVC, the formula used for allocations that year was more general, and that every program 
paid for something. 
 
Chairman Roberts stated that until a study was done, he didn’t know if they have direction.  
Commissioner Melton stated that part of their frustration is that the Commission has no 
control over costbacks, but that the Commission is being held accountable for them.  Bill 
Huddleston stated that he wanted to assuage any concerns by being clear that one board is 
not being treated differently than the other, and that the methodology used for 
administrative costbacks is applied to every program the same, and he understands that 
didn’t answer the control question, but that wanted to be clear it’s the same formula and that 
every program is treated in the same fashion. 
 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, Joe Clayton, asked Executive Director Shaw if there 
was anything to add.  Ms. Shaw stated that she thought there were some good folks working 
in the field and didn’t want to disparage them in any way.  She stated that just like the 
Committee, she would have to look at the numbers and what could be done with the same 
amount of money, and the study would be the best route to vet that out.  She stated it was 
not to take anything away from those who were currently performing the task, but when 
you look at what the bottom dollar is, it’s a fair and just request to determine what the 
comparison would be. 
 
Commissioner Clayton asked if the procedure for complaints which are not complaints 
could be changed.  Ms. Shaw indicated that legal would need to be consulted to determine 
what that would look like and still be in compliance with the legal requirement and have the 
same protections for the Commission that are currently in place.  She stated a lot of the 
functions were centralized, and that it was being looked at in for an efficiency standpoint. 
 
 
 
 
 



Chairman Roberts made a motion to request staff do a study of what the budget 
would be bringing an adequate number of personnel (for inspections, legal and 
investigations), seconded by Commissioner Melton.  Chairman Clayton called for a 
roll call vote: 
 
 
 ROLL CALL VOTE 
 
EDDIE ROBERTS  YES 
JOE CLAYTON  YES 
DEBBIE MELTON  YES 
DON PARR   YES 
 
Chairman Roberts asked as a matter of procedure to approve the report that staff provided 
to the Audit Committee.  
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
NONE 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
NONE 
 
 
MEETING ADJOURNED 
 
 
 
 
 
Minutes Approved________________________________________Date_________ 










	TENNESSEE
	ABSENT:
	ORIENTATION
	Chairman Roberts stated his view was if MVC had their own Field Investigators and Enforcement, that the overall cost would be better and get a better product, and he hadn’t heard anyone on staff say this, but that if we had our own field investigators...
	After further discussion, the Committee questioned the role the legal department plays in regards to expenditures for the Commission.
	Minutes Approved________________________________________Date_________

